THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APR 13 2015

APPEAL FROM THE HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-CP-26-2861  
Appellate Case No. 2014-002047

Phyllis Hufton,  
..... Respondent,

v.

Flagstar Bank, FSB and John Doe,  
..... Defendants

of whom

Flagstar Bank FSB is  
..... Appellant

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

BALLARD & WATSON  
Desa Ballard  
desab@desaballard.com  
Post Office Box 6338  
West Columbia, South Carolina 29171  
Telephone 803.796.9299

NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH  
Jeremy C. Hodges  
jeremy.hodges@nelsonmullins.com  
Brian M. Barnwell

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT HUFTON'S "INDIVIDUAL" INTEREST SURVIVED FORECLOSURE WHEN HUFTON WAS NAMED AND SERVED IN AN INDIVIDUAL AND REPRESENTATIVE CAPACITY, FILED AN ANSWER ADMITTING THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE FORECLOSURE COMPLAINT, AND FAILED TO RAISE ANY ISSUE ABOUT THE CAPACITY IN WHICH SHE WAS SUED?
  
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR WHEN IT FAILED TO CONSIDER THAT JUDGE STROMAN'S JUDGMENT OF FORECLOSURE AND SALE WAS THE LAW OF THE CASE AND WAS BINDING AS TO HUFTON'S INTEREST?
  
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY FAILING TO CONSIDER THAT THE QUIT CLAIM DEED TO HUFTON FROM THE ESTATE OF ELMER J. CRAFT WAS PER SE DEFECTIVE UNDER VIRGINIA LAW?
  
4. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY FAILING TO CONCLUDE THAT THE MASTER'S DEED RENDERS THE FORECLOSURE PROCEEDINGS RES JUDICATA?
  
5. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO GRANT FLAGSTAR'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Phyllis Hufton (“Hufton”) commenced this case on April 29, 2013 by filing a *Lis Pendens* and Summons and Complaint seeking a declaratory judgment that she is the fee simple owner of certain real property located at 1321 South Ocean Boulevard, Unit 506, North Myrtle Beach (the “Property”). (R. p. 22). Hufton further alleged that the earlier foreclosure of a mortgage owned by Appellant Flagstar Bank, FSB (“Flagstar”) had no effect on her individual interest in the property because she was allegedly not named individually in the foreclosure action Id. On June 24, 2013, Flagstar filed a motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction based on the master’s reservation of jurisdiction, or to stay the matter and refer it to the master. (R. p. 43). This motion was denied by Form 4 order on August 15, 2013. (R. p. 15). Flagstar thereafter filed an answer and counterclaim asserting that Hufton’s interest was foreclosed and that even if it was not, then Hufton’s sole remedy is to redeem Flagstar’s interest by paying the full amount of Flagstar’s debt.

On April 7, 2014, Flagstar filed a motion for summary judgment with supporting exhibits. (R. p. 77). On April 14, 2014, Hufton filed a motion to amend the complaint to add a cause of action to partition the Property. (R. p. 151). On May 12, 2014, Hufton filed a motion for partial summary judgment asserting that, as a matter of law, her interest in the Property survived foreclosure. (R. p. 156).

On June 4, 2014, Judge Larry B. Hyman denied Flagstar’s motion for summary judgment by Form 4 order, and granted Hufton’s motion to amend to add a claim for partition. (R. p. 17). On June 13, 2014, Hufton filed an amended complaint adding the

partition claim. (R. p. 218). Flagstar filed an answer and counterclaims to the amended complaint on June 18, 2014. (R. p. 222).

Judge Steven H. John granted Hufton's motion for partial summary judgment by order dated July 14, 2014. (R. p. 19). On August 4, 2014, Flagstar timely filed a motion to alter or amend Judge John's order granting partial summary judgment. (R. p. 306). Flagstar's motion to alter or amend was denied by Form 4 order on September 19, 2014. (R. p. 21). Flagstar timely served its Notice of Appeal on September 23, 2014. This appeal follows.

## FACTS

On or about April 7, 2008, James W. Hufton, Sr. and Elmer J. Craft purchased a condominium located at 1321 South Ocean Boulevard, Unit 506, North Myrtle Beach, South Carolina (the "Property"). (R. p. 92). The Indenture Deed received by Mr. Hufton and Mr. Craft conveyed to each man an undivided one-half interest in the Property. Id. To finance the purchase, Mr. Hufton borrowed \$417,000.00 and executed a note (the "Note") in favor of Golden Gate Mortgage Inc. (R. p. 98). Mr. Craft did not sign the Note, but to correctly secure the Note and recognizing that both men had received by Deed an undivided one-half interest, both Mr. Hufton and Mr. Craft executed a purchase money mortgage concerning the Property. (R. p. 102). The Note and Mortgage were subsequently assigned to Flagstar.

James W. Hufton, Sr. died on August 22, 2010. His estate was administered in Roanoke County, Virginia and exemplified copies are filed in Horry County Probate File No. 2011-ES-26-1577. James Hufton's will devised his ½ interest in the Property to his wife, Respondent Phyllis Hufton. Elmer Judson Craft, Jr. had died earlier on June 5, 2009. Craft's estate was also administered in Roanoke County, Virginia and exemplified copies are filed in Horry County Probate File No. 2011-ES-26-1576.

On September 9, 2011, Deborah A. Oehlschlaeger, as Administrator *c t a* of the Estate of Elmer Judson Craft, Jr., purported<sup>1</sup> to convey Craft's ½ interest in the property to Hufton by Quit Claim deed. (R. p. 113). That Quit Claim deed specifically referenced a Settlement Agreement to convey the property between James Hufton (prior to his death)

---

<sup>1</sup> Under Virginia statutory law the deed was defective as it failed to record the County and State of execution Virginia Code § 47 1-16

and the Craft estate including the consideration that Hufton would be responsible for the Flagstar mortgage debt. Id.

Neither Mr. Craft's nor Mr. Hufton's estates made the required payments or satisfied the Note before conveying their respective interests to Hufton. Following those conveyances, Hufton did not make any payments on the Note. As a result, the mortgage loan account went into default.

Flagstar filed a foreclosure action on February 20, 2012 in the Court of Common Pleas for Horry County, South Carolina (the "foreclosure action"). FSB v. Phyllis C. Hufton, as Personal Representative and Legal Heir of the Estate of James W. Hufton, Sr., Deceased, et al., (including the Estate of Elmer Judson Craft, Jr, his Personal Representative and all Heirs of the Craft Estate), Civil Action Number 2012-CP-26-1379. (R. p. 118). The complaint stated that Flagstar sought to foreclose on the entire Property. It also named every person, including Hufton, who was a legal heir or representative of Mr. Hufton and Mr. Craft's estates, including their personal representatives and heirs. Id.

On February 23, 2012, Hufton's attorney sent Flagstar's foreclosure counsel an e-mail which stated:

I represent Phyllis Hufton, and the rest of the known parties named as defendants. I had already agreed to accept service on behalf of my client(s).

Please forward a copy of the complaint filed in this matter as soon as you can. Once you have done so, I will email confirmation that such receipt by me 'constitutes personal service on Phyllis Hufton as well as any other parties you have not already effected personal service upon in this matter. I will be representing all of the parties in the suit.

(R. p. 126).

Later that day, Hufton's attorney confirmed that "*I'll accept service for Phyllis Hufton Please do not attempt to serve her personally.*" (R. p. 125) (emphasis added). Nonetheless, Hufton was personally served with a copy of the Summons and Complaint in the foreclosure action as were all of the heirs to and the personal representative of the Craft Estate. (R. p. 33). Hufton's counsel also signed and returned an Acknowledgment of Service dated February 24, 2012 as "*Attorney for Phyllis C Hufton*" without limitation or qualification. (R. p. 32) (emphasis added).

Hufton then filed an answer captioned "Answer of Phyllis C. Hufton" (again without limitation or qualification) admitting all the allegations of the foreclosure complaint. (R. p. 34). In her answer, Hufton did not contest Flagstar's right to foreclose, the superiority of its lien nor did she allege any deficiency in her capacity as a party defendant. Id.

A hearing was held before the Honorable Ralph Stroman, Special Referee for Horry County on the uncontested docket. Neither Hufton nor her counsel appeared at the hearing. As a result of the hearing Judge Stroman issued a Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale (Deficiency waived). (R. p. 1). Judge Stroman specifically found, in Paragraphs 4 and 16 of the "Conclusions of Law" section:

(4) Defendant Phyllis C. Hufton has *not* established any claims for relief against the Plaintiff, and therefore, *no relief* should be granted to the Defendant;

...

(16) And it is further ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that Defendant[s] named herein and *all persons whosoever claiming* under him, them, or it, be foreclosure barred and foreclosure of all right, title and interest and equity of redemption in the said mortgaged premises so sold, or any part thereof.

(R. p. 9 and 12) (emphasis added). Hufton did not appeal the judgment in the foreclosure action.

Flagstar purchased the Property at a judicial sale on October 1, 2012. Following the judicial sale, Judge Cynthia Graham Howe issued a Master's Deed to Flagstar on December 3, 2012, which was recorded on December 17, 2012. (R. p. 149). That Master's Deed refers to James W. Hufton, Sr. and Elmer J. Craft, Jr as "Defendants." Id. The Master's Deed also specifically conveyed any estate, right, title, dower, possession, benefit, claim or demand whatsoever of all parties to the said suit **AND** all other persons who might rightfully claim the same or any part thereof, by, from or under either of the Defendants. Id. (emphasis added).

Six months after the foreclosure sale, and after the property had been deeded to Flagstar, Hufton commenced this action seeking a declaration that she owned the property free and clear of Flagstar's mortgage.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT HUFTON'S "INDIVIDUAL" INTEREST SURVIVED FORECLOSURE WHEN HUFTON WAS NAMED AND SERVED IN AN INDIVIDUAL AND REPRESENTATIVE CAPACITY, FILED AN ANSWER ADMITTING THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE FORECLOSURE COMPLAINT, AND FAILED TO RAISE ANY ISSUE ABOUT THE CAPACITY IN WHICH SHE WAS SUED?**

#### **A. Hufton was named and served in the foreclosure action.**

Paragraph 2 of the trial court's order states "that Phyllis Hufton, individually, was not served in the Foreclosure Action, as required by Rule 4, SCRCF." (R. p. 19). This is not factually or legally accurate. The evidence reflects that on February 23, 2012 David Traywick, Esq. wrote via email, "I'll accept service for Phyllis Hufton" (R. p. 125) and that Mr. Traywick subsequently executed an Acknowledgment of Service as "Attorney for the Defendant Phyllis C. Hufton." (R. p. 32). Mr. Traywick did not limit or qualify the capacity in which service was being accepted on behalf of Hufton in either of these documents.

Additionally, a copy of the Summons and Complaint was personally served on Hufton as shown by the Affidavit of Service on file with the court. (R. p. 33). It is therefore error to conclude that Hufton was not served "individually" in compliance with Rule 4 SCRCF. White Oak Manor Inc. v. Lexington Ins. Co., 407 S.C. 1, 753 S.E.2d 537 (2014) (exacting compliance regarding service is not required; the court has personal jurisdiction if the defendant has notice of the proceedings). Moreover, a presumption of proper service exists when the rules governing service are followed. BB&T v. Taylor, 369 S.C. 548, 633 S.E.2d 501, 503 (2006).

It appears that Hufton and the trial court incorrectly concluded that Hufton should have been served separately because of the purported “deeded interest” from the Craft Estate, although all of the heirs and the personal representative of the Craft Estate were also named as parties, as Hufton admitted in her Answer. If so, this is error and should be reversed. Service of process under Rule 4 is made upon persons, not interests. To hold otherwise, would require that people be served multiple times in each case for every interest they may hold in a given piece of property.

There are only two capacities in which a party may be named in a suit: individual and representative. In this case, Hufton was named, served and answered in both capacities. Paragraph 15(a) of the Complaint alleges, “The Defendant, Phyllis C. Hufton, as Personal Representative and Legal Heir of the Estate of James W. Hufton, Sr. ... and by virtue of any interest claimed under the law of succession (S.C. Code § 62-2-109) or under decedent’s will.” (R. p. 27) (emphasis added). Thus, Hufton was named in a representative capacity as Personal Representative for the Estate of James W. Hufton and in her individual capacity as legal heir who may take under the decedent’s will. She had no other interest in the property.

The other legal heirs to Mr. Hufton’s Estate as well as the Personal Representative and heirs for the Estate of Elmer Judson Craft, Jr. were also named and served in the very same manner and capacities. (R. p. 27, ¶ 15). Surely the Court would agree the legal heirs of both the Estates of Hufton and Craft were all named and served as parties individually to the foreclosure action. Hufton, as legal heir and a party who had an interest by virtue of decedent’s will, had proper personal service, due process notice, and was a party in all her various capacities.

**B. Hufton was a party to the foreclosure action and the court had personal jurisdiction over her.**

A court ordinarily obtains personal jurisdiction by the service of a summons. Ex parte S. Carolina Dep't of Revenue, 350 S.C. 404, 407, 566 S.E.2d 196, 198 (Ct.App.2002) (citing State v. Sanders, 118 S.C. 498, 502, 110 S.E. 808, 810 (1920)). Hufton was *personally* served with the Summons and Complaint. (R. p. 33). Even if that was not sufficient to include her as a party and confer personal jurisdiction over her, her attorney also executed an Acknowledgment of Service as “Attorney for the Defendant Phyllis C. Hufton,” thereby remedying any alleged deficiency in service upon Hufton. (R. p. 32).

Additionally, Hufton then made a general appearance by her counsel who **filed and served an answer** captioned, “Answer of Defendant Phyllis C. Hufton” in which she admitted all the allegations of the foreclosure complaint. (R. p. 34). By making a general appearance, providing absolute admissions of all allegations and the relief sought in the foreclosure complaint, and by not contesting personal jurisdiction, Hufton waived any objections to service of process or to personal jurisdiction. See Rule 12(h)(1) SCRCPP (“Waiver or Preservation of Certain Defenses”). Ex Parte Cannon, 385 S.C. 643, 685 S.E.2d 814 (Ct.App.2009) (voluntary appearance waives personal jurisdiction issue).

The trial court thus erred by finding that Hufton was not a party to the foreclosure action and that Judge Stroman lacked personal jurisdiction over her.

**C. The trial court failed to consider and apply applicable rules of civil procedure to its construction of the pleadings**

Rule 10(a) SCRCPP merely requires the Summons and Complaint include the names of all the parties. Significantly, and consistent with Rule 9(a) SCRCPP, Rule 10(a) SCRCPP

does not require the pleader to state names and each capacity of all the parties. In this case, Phyllis Hufton was *named* in the Summons and Complaint. Moreover, Rule 9(a) SCRCPC provides, “It is not necessary to aver the capacity of a party to sue or be sued or the authority of a party to sue or be sued in a representative capacity.” More specifically, any deficiency of capacity must have been raised by Hufton, or it is waived. Chet Adams Co. v. James F. Pederson Co., 307 S.C. 33, 413 S.E.2d 827 (1992). Had an issue existed, Hufton waived it with her general appearance.

Rule 8(e)(1) provides in part, “No technical forms of pleading or motions are required” and Rule 8(f) provides, “All pleadings shall be so construed as to do substantial justice to all parties.” In this case, the trial court erred by holding that Flagstar had to be hyper technical in its pleadings. As a result, the trial court did not “do substantial justice” to Flagstar in its construction of the pleadings.

Consider that Hufton admitted all allegations of the Complaint, including the superiority of Flagstar’s lien, that the property should be sold, and that her equity of redemption should be barred. (R. p. 34). The court should also consider that the debt owed to Flagstar is more than \$416,000 dollars and that Hufton is now claiming the right to half of the Property free and clear of Flagstar’s lien, despite failing to make any payments on the Note. Given these facts, the trial court’s construction of the pleadings is an injustice to Flagstar. Since the foreclosure action was one in equity, the appellate court can find the facts, as determined by that action, in accordance with its own view of the evidence. A. Fast Photo Exp. Inc. v. First National Bank of Chicago, 369 S.C. 80, 630 S.E.2d 285 (Ct.App. 2006). Flagstar submits that the **fact** of whether Hufton was served in all of her various capacities is a **fact** the appellate court can make independently of the trial court.

Moreover, Hufton has not been prejudiced. She was served with the foreclosure complaint, represented by counsel, filed an answer, and had a full and fair opportunity to participate in the foreclosure process. Hufton chose not to attend the foreclosure hearing, or the sale, and chose not to appeal the judgment of foreclosure. This Court should not allow Hufton a second chance to litigate ownership of the Property when she failed to avail herself of her earlier opportunity to do so.

**D. This court does not permit a Defendant to play “name” (or “capacity”) games.**

In Tri-County Ice and Fuel Co. v. Palmetto Ice Co., a judgment debtor sought to set aside a default judgment alleging that it had been sued in the wrong name. 303 S.C. 237, 399 S.E.2d 779 (1990). The court concluded,

Helmly, who is the principal shareholder and president of P& H Company Inc., was served with the summons and complaint and all other notices. Helmly clearly knew that Tri-County intended to sue the corporation, P& H Company, Inc., but that Tri-County was under a misapprehension as to the identity of Palmetto Ice Company. ... Yet, Helmly did not come forward to correct the misnomer, but chose to ignore it and rely on it to attack the validity of the judgment. As we stated in Waldrop, “where a defendant sued by a wrong name omits to plead in abatement and suffers the plaintiff to proceed to judgment, though he has never appeared to the wrong name, this Court will not interfere to set aside the proceedings.

Id. (quoting Waldrop v. Leonard, 22 S.C. 118 (1885) (holding that an individual who was incorrectly named in complaint could not avoid default judgment because he failed to inform the court of the error before judgment was entered)). Hufton is trying to play the same name game here, and her efforts should be similarly rejected.

**E. The trial court did not consider Hufton's general admission Answer and that Hufton failed to raise the issue of capacity pursuant to Rule 9(a) SCRCF.**

Hufton filed and served an answer captioned, "Answer of Defendant Phyllis C. Hufton" in which she admitted all the allegations of the foreclosure complaint. (R. p. 34). Moreover, Hufton's answer specifically provides that "Any allegation of the Complaint not specifically denied is admitted." Id. Thus Hufton admits, among other things, that her interest is junior and subordinate to Flagstar, that Flagstar's mortgage be declared a first lien, that the property be sold, and "the equity of redemption as to all defendants be barred and the lien or interest claimed by any defendant be extinguished " Id.

Moreover, if Hufton had an argument about the capacity in which she was sued, under Rule 9(a) it should have been included in her answer. Rule 9(a) SCRCF provides, "When a party desires to raise an issue as to the legal existence of any party or the capacity of any party to sue or be sued or the authority of a party to sue or be sued in a representative capacity, he *shall do so by specific negative averment*, which shall include such supporting particulars as are within the pleaders' knowledge." (emphasis added.) It is undisputed that Hufton had full knowledge about all the facts she is now raising in this action at the time she filed an answer to the foreclosure action.

This Court should reverse the trial court's order for partial summary judgment and hold that Hufton's interest was foreclosed.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO APPLY JUDGE STROMAN'S FORECLOSURE ORDER, SPECIFICALLY ITS CONCLUSIONS OF LAW THAT HUFTON INDIVIDUALLY WAS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF AND THAT ALL OTHER PERSONS CLAIMING THROUGH THE PARTIES TO THE SUIT WERE ALSO FORECLOSED AND BARRED, AS THE LAW OF THE CASE.**

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