THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED  
APR 24 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2013-CP-26-2861  
Appellate Case No. 2014-002047

---

Phyllis Hufton,..... Respondent,

v.

Flagstar Bank, FSB and John Doe..... Defendants,

Of whom Flagstar Bank, FSB, is the Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

TRAYWICK & TRAYWICK, LLC

David P. Traywick  
SC Bar No. 78502  
E-mail: dpt@traywicklaw.com  
Benjamin A. Traywick  
SC Bar No. 74027  
E-mail: ben@traywicklaw.com  
875 Lowcountry Boulevard, Suite 204  
Mount Pleasant, SC 29464

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

## **2. The court lacked jurisdiction over her property.**

Though it is a proposition encompassed, technically, by the lack of personal jurisdiction, Hufton notes that by virtue of its lack of jurisdiction over her, individually, this Court likewise lacks jurisdiction over any property interest she holds individually, including the interest for which she has filed to quiet title in the Circuit Court. This interest was in no way described or identified in the foreclosure Complaint; as such, the foreclosure action did not affect, and the Master's Deed did not convey, her individually held interest.

Flagstar did not avail itself of this opportunity: if it had done as the Court sagely advised, Flagstar would have discovered the deed reflecting Hufton's individual interest,<sup>2</sup> which already

---

<sup>2</sup> Frankly, given that Hufton's deeded individual interest was duly recorded prior to the *lis pendens*, one wonders if a title search was done at any point, as implied by Flagstar in its filings in the foreclosure action.

was on record. As a result of its failure to heed the call to diligence, Flagstar named and inconvenienced numerous parties it needed not (S.C. Code Sections 29-3-610. “It shall not be necessary to make the personal representative of a deceased mortgagor a party to any foreclosure proceeding...” and 29-3-620 “It shall not be necessary to make a mortgagor who has conveyed to another the mortgaged premises a party to any action for foreclosure when no judgment for a deficiency is demanded”), while failing to name Hufton, whose interest it now claims to have extinguished. Flagstar’s position, in sum, is at odds with substantially every extant fundament of South Carolina real property law.

**C. The trial Court understands Rules of Procedure and constructed pleadings in the case properly.**

Appellant’s arguments misconstrue the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

**1. Rule 10(a) SCRCP**

Rule 10(a) states:

Every pleading shall contain a caption setting forth the name of the State and County, the name of the Court, the title of the action, the file number and a designation as in Rule 7(a). In the summons and complaint the title of the action shall include the names of all parties, but in other pleadings it is sufficient to state the name of the first party on each side with an appropriate indication of other parties.

Rule 10(a), SCRCP. Appellant is correct that the rule does not address capacity specifically; it does however state that all parties should be named. It is only the “other pleadings” that all parties are not required to be named and only after the initial naming of the parties has been established. As has already been established above, “Phyllis C. Hufton” is much different than “Phyllis C Hufton, personal representative” or “Phyllis C. Hufton, heir to the estate”. See generally, Chase v. Risher, supra. Therefore Appellant is and was required to name all necessary and known parties in the complaint.

## **2. Rule 9(a) SCRCF**

Appellant also addresses Rule 9(a), which specifically addresses capacity:

It is not necessary to aver the capacity of a party to sue or be sued or the authority of a party to sue or be sued in a representative capacity or the legal existence of an organized association of persons that is made a party, except to the extent required to show the jurisdiction of the court. When a party desires to raise an issue as to the legal existence of any party or the capacity of any party to sue or be sued or the authority of a party to sue or be sued in a representative capacity, he shall do so by specific negative averment, which shall include such supporting particulars as are within the pleaders' knowledge.

Rule 9(a), SCRCF.

Appellant gets the rule right but the application is incorrect. Averment of representative capacity is not required. However, Appellant did name Phyllis C. Hufton in two representative capacities, as a personal representative and as an heir, then failed to name Phyllis C. Hufton individually. There was no deficiency of capacity as to the Phyllis C. Hufton, Personal Representative and Phyllis C. Hufton, Heir seeing as she held both of those positions. Therefore there was no issue of capacity to be raised. Phyllis C. Hufton, individual, cannot answer when Phyllis C. Hufton, individual, has not been named.

## **3. Rule 8 SCRCF**

Rule 8(e)(1), SCRCF states: "[e]ach averment of a pleading shall be simple, concise, and direct. No technical forms of pleading or motions are required." Requiring all parties to be named, and it to be clear whether someone is named as an individual or in a representative capacity is not technical in form, but rather explanatory and good practice. Appellant cites Rule 8(f) and construes the pleadings to do substantial justice to the parties. However, to construe a complaint to include an individual not named would hardly serve justice. Allowing the Appellant to avail itself of its

negligent and flagrant errors, while blaming Respondent for her failure to show up and remedy Appellant's mistakes is not the equitable choice.

- i. **Huften has not played "name games" or "capacity games". On the contrary, she extended every courtesy to Appellant's attorneys in the foreclosure case.**

The Appellant cites Tri-County Ice and Fuel Co. v. Palmetto Ice Co. in an attempt to establish that Respondent is merely complaining about getting her name wrong. However, this is not a case of mistaken name or wrong name but excluding a name and person completely. As stated multiple times before and in more detail Phyllis C. Huften is not the same as Phyllis C. Huften, Personal Representative of Phyllis C. Huften, Heir.

- ii. **Huften Did Not File an Answer In An Individual Capacity.**

Appellant hopes that if it repeats Respondent filed an Answer in her individual capacity enough times, that an inattentive audience might believe it to be true. A sampling of Appellant's hopes: "Huften then filed an answer captioned 'Answer of Phyllis C. Huften' (without limitation of qualification)..." Appellant's assertion here is dishonest because Huften's 'COMES NOW' clause limited and qualified her answer in precisely the manner Appellant wishes it had not. A further sampling of Appellant's erroneous assertions:

"Huften then made a general appearance by her counsel who *filed and served an answer* captioned, 'Answer of Defendant Phyllis C. Huften'" (App's Br p. 10);

"Consider that Huften admitted all allegations of the Complaint ..." (App's Br p. 11)

"Huften has not been prejudiced. She was served with the foreclosure complaint, represented by counsel, filed an answer..." (App's Br p. 12);

"Huften filed and served an answer captioned, 'Answer of Defendant Phyllis C. Huften' ." (App's Br p. 13);

"...in this case. Huften was a party and did not appeal..." (App's Br p. 14)

All of Appellant's characterizations of Respondent's Answer to the foreclosure complaint are barred by judicial estoppel, or are blatant mischaracterizations because they seek to establish that Hufton answered individually by ignoring the fact that Respondent pled as follows: "**COMES NOW, Defendant Phyllis C. Hufton, as Personal Representative and Legal Heir of the Estate of James W. Hufton, Sr., Deceased**" (hereinafter referred to as the "Defendant") by and through her undersigned attorney, . . ." (R. p. 130). The language clearly limits the capacity in which Respondent answered. Hufton Answered the Complaint in the capacities in which she was served, which did not include her individual capacity. Hufton was neither named and served, nor answered in her individual capacity. Regardless, if Appellant calls Respondent's answer a "General Admission" answer it cannot be considered an answer of Phyllis C. Hufton, individually because Phyllis C. Hufton, as an individual, was never a part of the foreclosure action below. She cannot have been a part of the action below because the court never had jurisdiction over her for Appellant's failure to name and serve her. Therefore, it was impossible that Respondent's answer would be representative of Phyllis C. Hufton as an individual. Respondent had no issue over the capacity in which she was sued as an Heir and Personal Representative because she held both of those positions. She was properly sued in both of those representative capacities. It is the fault of the Appellant alone that they failed to name Respondent in her individual capacity, and certainly not Respondent's job to point that out—especially to her disadvantage.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT JUDGE STROMAN LACKED JURISDICTION OVER HUFTON AND THAT THE FORECLOSURE JUDGMENT WAS A NULLITY VIS A VIS RESPONDENT, IN HER INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY.**

Appellant's second ground for appeal asserts the trial court erred in not holding Judge Stroman's Order the Law of the Case in Hufton's subsequent declaratory judgment action. This

second ground on appeal, like the first ground, depends upon an appellate reversal of the trial court's finding of fact: that Hufton, individually, was neither named, nor served, and therefore was not a party to the foreclosure suit.

**A. Respondent, Individually, Did Not Answer or Make a General Appearance in the Foreclosure Lawsuit. There was no Waiver, Therefore Judge Stroman Did Not Have Personal Jurisdiction.**

Appellant proposes that Hufton's counsel accepted service on behalf of Hufton individually, and answered on her behalf, thereby waiving personal jurisdiction objections. (R. p. 330, lines 6-19).

Hufton's attorney, David Traywick, did offer to accept service as a courtesy to Flagstar and signed an acceptance of service. (R. p. 32). Flagstar ignored the extended courtesy and served all of the named Defendants, including Respondent in the two distinct representative capacities in which she was named - as personal representative and as heir. (R. p. 33). Appellant states that Hufton's attorney filed an answer on behalf of Hufton in her individual capacity. However, the Answer Appellant refers to clearly states that the pleading was that of "Defendant Phyllis Hufton, as Personal Representative and Legal Heir of the Estate of James W. Hufton, Sr., Deceased". (R. p. 285). Accordingly, Respondent did not Answer, did not enter a 'general appearance' in her individual capacity, and consequently did not waive personal jurisdiction as Appellant contends.

**B. Judge Stroman's Court Order Does Not Apply to Respondent, in Her Individual Capacity, Since the Foreclosure Court Lacked Personal Jurisdiction.**

"A judgment by a court without jurisdiction of both the parties and the subject matter is a nullity and must be so treated by the courts whenever and for whatever purpose it is presented and relied on." Webster v. Clanton, 259 S.C. 387, 391-2, 192 S.E.2d 214, 216 (S.C., 1972) (citing cases collected in West's South Carolina Digest, Judgment, k488, 489 and further citing 46 Am.Jur.2d 347, Judgments, Sec. 49, and 49 C.J.S. Judgments § 23, p. 52.); see also, Tryon Federal Sav. and

Loan Ass'n v. Phelps, 307 S.C. 361, 362, 415 S.E.2d 397, 398 (1991), "It is fundamental that no judgment or order affecting the rights of a party to the cause shall be made or rendered without notice to the party whose rights are affected." citing Insurance Co. of North America v. Hyatt, 290 S.C. 159, 348 S.E.2d 532 (1986). See generally Koester v. Citizens' Pub. Co., 154 SC 154, 151 S.E. 452 (1930).<sup>3</sup>

Judge Stroman lacked jurisdiction over Hufton individually. Thus, his decree was a nullity as to Hufton and to her property interests, much less the law of the case in Hufton's declaratory judgment action.

---

<sup>3</sup> *Koester* cites numerous authorities for the proposition that a decree is void where a party was either not named or not served in an action. e.g. "A judgment against a party not named in the complaint nor any part of the record is void. We cannot presume that one who does not appear to have been a party had his day in court." *Freeman on Judgments* (2d Ed.) § 141; and "If the judgment or decree is silent upon the subject of service of summons, and the service shown by the return upon the summons is not such as will give the court jurisdiction, no doubt the judgment is void." *Freeman on Judgments*, § 133; and "If the decrees are void and the parties not served, that is a fatal defect without proof." *Bradley v. Calhoun*, 116 S. C. 7, 106 S. E. 843, 844, and "A court without jurisdiction cannot render a valid judgment. Its judgment may be disregarded and objected to at any time." *Beaudrot v. Murphy*, 53 S. C. 118, 30 S. E. 825, 826; and "But a judgment by a court without jurisdiction of the parties and subject-matter is a nullity, and must be so treated by other courts whenever and for whatever purpose it is presented and relied on." *State v. Murray*, 79 S. C. 316, 60 S. E. 928, 930, and "Jurisdiction to hear and determine the cause must exist before any decree or judgment therein can have any vitality whatever. In every case there must not only be jurisdiction of the person and the subject-matter, but the person and the subject-matter must be brought before the court in a manner authorized by law, otherwise the judgment or decree is void, and not merely erroneous or voidable, and may be set at naught, either by a direct proceeding in the cause in which it was rendered or by a collateral attack. These propositions are elementary and fundamental, and are recognized as law everywhere." *Brenham v. Smith*, 120 Va. 30, 90 S. E. 657, 658, and "But a judgment obtained without process is not a judgment, it is a nullity, and may be declared void by every court in which it is called in question, whether collaterally or directly." *New Eagle Coal Co. v. Burgess*, 90 W. Va. 541, 111 S. E. 508, 509; and "It is a fully established position in this state and elsewhere that: 'A judgment rendered by a court against a citizen affecting his vested rights, in an action or proceeding to which he is not a party, is absolutely void, and may be treated as a nullity whenever it is brought to the attention of the court.'" *Johnson v. Whilden*, 171 N. C. 153, 88 S. E. 223, 224, and "When the record itself discloses the fact that the court had no jurisdiction of the controversy, or the jurisdiction of the person of the defendant did not attach in the particular case, the judgment is a mere nullity, and may be collaterally impeached, by any person interested, whenever and wherever it is brought in question. Thus, when the defendant against whom a judgment was entered had no notice, and that appears from the proceedings, the judgment is void on its face. It is equally true of want of jurisdiction of the subject matter. Orders and judgments which the court has not the power under any circumstances to make or render are null and void, and their nullity can be asserted in any collateral proceeding where they are relied on in support of a claim of right." *Black on Judgments*, vol. 1, § 278; and "A judgment rendered by a court having no jurisdiction is a mere nullity, and will be so held and treated whenever and for whatever purpose it is sought to be used or relied on as a valid judgment." 33 C. J. 1072, § 34

Respondent was party to the foreclosure suit in two limited capacities: as personal representative and as heir. Therefore, the Master lacked personal jurisdiction over Respondent, individually, in the suit.

No attempt was made to serve Respondent, Phyllis C. Hufton, individually, in accordance with Rule 4, SCRCF. As a result of Flagstar's failure to serve Hufton individually, the Court lacked jurisdiction over the person of Phyllis C. Hufton. See Roche v. Young Bros., Inc. of Florence, 318 S.C. 207, 209, 456 S.E.2d 897, 899 (1995) (stating that Rule 4, SCRCF has two purposes: it confers personal jurisdiction on the court and assures the defendant of notice). Furthermore, to comply with the due process requirements of the United States Constitution, service of process or waiver is necessary.

Phyllis C. Hufton, in her individual capacity, neither appeared in the foreclosure suit nor waived her objections to personal jurisdiction. Due to failure to name her individually, Hufton did not receive notice of intent to eradicate her individually held interest Appellant's failure both to name and to serve Respondent, in her individual capacity, the Court had no power to eradicate her individually held interest regardless of intention.

### **III. APPELLANT ISSUES III & V ARE NOT PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW**

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